1986

Marlin L. Stewart and Candice Stewart v. Aldine J.  
Coffman JR.; Penelope Dalton Coffman, Coffman,  
Coffman and Woods : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

Statement of Issues Presented on Appeal

The issues presented in this appeal are as follows:

A. Are partners in a law firm who are not actively involved in a case vicariously liable for the professional malpractice of other partners in the law firm?

B. Does the structuring of a law firm partnership as a professional corporation under the Utah Professional Corporation Act, Section 16-11-1 et. seq. of the Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, shield a member of the firm from vicarious liability for

the professional malpractice of other members of the firm?

Statement of the Case

This is an appeal of the dismissal of Defendant-Respondent Penelope Dalton Coffman (hereinafter called "Penelope D. Coffman") from a legal malpractice action. The dismissal followed a Rule 12(b) motion to dismiss which was in effect treated as a motion for summary judgment.

Plaintiffs-Appellants (hereinafter called "the Stewarts") brought suit against Penelope D. Coffman, Aldine J. Coffman, Jr., Coffman, Coffman & Woods, P.C., and others alleging inter alia, that the Stewarts lost a major lawsuit because of malpractice on the part of Aldine J. Coffman, Jr. as well as other named attorneys who had represented them. The Stewarts, inter alia, alleged that the Coffman defendants had negligently allowed their counterclaim to be dismissed with prejudice for failure to properly plead and properly and timely amend when granted leave to do so. (R.1-8).

Penelope D. Coffman and Aldine J. Coffman, Jr. were at the time of the alleged malpractice members of the law firm of Coffman and Coffman, a professional corporation. The firm name had subsequently been changed to Coffman, Coffman & Woods, P.C., by the time the involved suit was filed. (R. 1-8, 59-61).

Penelope D. Coffman filed a motion to dismiss the complaint against her for failure to state a cause of action

alleging by memorandum that she had not personally represented the Stewarts. The motion was initially denied by the court on the ground that, aside from unverified allegations in her memorandum, Penelope D. Coffman had not shown that she had no personal involvement in the matters alleged. (R. 30-58). Penelope D. Coffman then filed a motion to reconsider and an affidavit wherein she admitted that she was a member of the professional corporation, but alleged that she had no personal involvement in representing the Stewarts. (R. 59-61; 70-71). The Stewarts possessed no evidence to show that Penelope D. Coffman had ever talked to them or worked on their case and, on such basis only, the Court dismissed Penelope D. Coffman from the lawsuit. (R. 72-74; 135-137). The dismissal was entered against the Stewarts' contentions that under the provisions of the Utah Professional Corporation Act, Section 16-11-1 et.seq. of the Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, Penelope D. Coffman and Aldine J. Coffman, Jr. were, in matters of professional liability to clients, partners and, under partnership law, Penelope D. Coffman was jointly and severally liable for the actions of Aldine J. Coffman, Jr. even if she never actively represented the Stewarts. (R. 35-43). The Stewarts thereupon filed this appeal of the dismissal. (R. 138-149). Copies of relevent pleadings and both Memorandum Decisions are included in the Addendum.



### Summary of Argument

Under partnership law, partners of law firms are vicariously liable for the professionally wrongful acts of other partners who represent clients of the law firm. The Utah Professional Corporation Act allows lawyers and law firms the opportunity to incorporate, but, by its provisions, does not alter the traditional standards of professional liability arising out of the practice of law including the doctrine of vicarious liability of law firm members. Therefore, Penelope D. Coffman is vicariously liable for the malpractice of Aldine J. Coffman, Jr. as a de facto partner even though the law firm is structured as a professional corporation. The trial court committed reversible error in dismissing her as a defendant.

### Argument

THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DISMISSING PENELOPE D. COFFMAN FROM THE ACTION SINCE SHE IS AND WAS VICARIOUSLY LIABLE FOR THE ACTS OF ALDINE J. COFFMAN, JR.

Aldine J. Coffman, Jr. and Penelope D. Coffman are each members of the Defendant law firm Coffman, Coffman and Woods, a professional corporation. (R. 24-29; 32-34; 59-61). The professional corporation, if it in fact exists, must be incorporated under authority of the Utah Professional Corporation Act, Section 16-11-1 et seq. of the Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

Prior to the adoption of the Professional Corporation Act in 1963, law firms necessarily existed in the form of partnerships subject to the liabilities imposed by partnership law. Petition of Bar Asso. 55 Hawaii 121, 516 P.2d 1267 (1973). Williams v. Burns, 463 F Supp 1278, (D.C. Colo, 1979). Sections 48-1-10, 11 and 12 of the Utah General Partnership Act, which was adopted in 1921, provide that the partnership and all partners as of the date liability arose are jointly and severally liable for the wrongful acts or omissions of any partner acting in the ordinary course of business. These sections read as follows:

48-1-10. Partnership bound by partner's wrongful act. Where by any wrongful act or omission of any partner acting in the ordinary course of the business of the partnership or with the authority of his copartners loss or injury is caused to any person, not being a partner in the partnership, or any penalty is incurred, the partnership is liable therefor to the same extent as the partner so acting or omitting to act.

48-1-11. Partnership bound by partner's breach of trust. The partnership is bound to make good the loss:

(1) Where one partner acting within the scope of his apparent authority receives money or property of a third person and misapplies it; and,

(2) Where the partnership in the course of its business receives money or property of a third person and the money or property so received is misapplied by any partner while it is in the custody of the partnership.

48-1-12. Nature of partner's liability.

All partners are liable:

(1) Jointly and severally for everything chargeable to the partnership under sections 48-1-10 and 48-1-11.

(2) Jointly for all other debts and obligations of the partnership; but any partner may enter into a separate obligation to perform a partnership contract.

Sections 16-11-3 and 10 of the Professional Corporation Act state that although the act allows professionals the use of the corporate form for business purposes, the act is not intended to alter the professional relationship between the professional and his client and specifically is not intended to alter any law of liability applicable to the relationship. These provisions read as follows:

16-11-3. Purpose of act.--This act shall be so construed as to effectuate its general purpose of making available to professional persons the benefits of the corporate form for the business aspects of their practices while preserving the established professional aspects of the personal relationship between the professional person and those he serves.

16-11-10. Laws as to professional relationships not altered.--This act does not alter any law applicable to the relationship between a person rendering professional services and a person receiving such services, including liability arising out of such professional services.

Therefore, the preexisting status of law firm members being vicariously liable for the professional misdeeds of their fellow members remains applicable to members of professional corporations. In Petition of Bar Asso., supra, the Hawaii Supreme Court recognized that the liability of attorneys of incorporated law firms for the malpractice of their associates

should not be limited and that the partnership law of liability should continue to apply. Likewise, in First Bank & Trust Co. v. Zagoria, 250 Ga. 844, 302 SE 2d 674, (1983), 39 ALR 4th 551, on remand, Zagoria v. Du Bose Enterprises, Inc., 167 Ga App 120, 306 SE 2d 433, the Georgia Supreme Court unanimously held that a lawyer who holds himself out as a member of a law firm, whether it is a partnership or a professional corporation, is liable for the professional misconduct of other members of the firm even when the lawyer has had no involvement in the transaction which gave rise to the liability. The court appropriately stated:

The professional nature of the law practice and its obligations to the public interest require that each lawyer be civilly responsible for his professional acts. A lawyer's relationship to his client is a very special one. So also in the relationship between a lawyer and the other members of his or her firm a special one. When a client engages the services of a lawyer the client has the right to expect the fidelity of other members of the firm. It is inappropriate for the lawyer to be able to play hide-and-seek in the shadows and folds of the corporate veil and thus escape the responsibilities of professionalism.

...

We cannot allow a corporate veil to hang from the cornices of professional corporations which engage in the law practice.

Therefore, Penelope D. Coffman is jointly and severally liable for the acts of Aldine J. Coffman, Jr. and the professional corporation even if she was not directly involved in

representing the Plaintiffs. The trial court's dismissal of her from the action must be reversed.

Conclusion

The trial court's dismissal of Penelope Dalton Coffman from the action must be reversed. In the event that the action has been tried before this appeal is heard Penelope Dalton Coffman should be ordered subject to and bound by any judgment entered against Aldine J. Coffman, Jr. and/or the professional corporation.