1986

# Marlin L. Stewart and Candice Stewart v. Aldine J. Coffman Jr. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The issue presented on appeal is whether the lower court abused its discretion by failing to hold a shareholder in a professional corporation vicariously liable for the alleged malpractice of another member of the firm.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant-Respondent adopts and incorporates herein the appellants' statement of facts with the exception of the facts referred to on page 3 of appellants' brief pertaining to the dismissal of Penelope Dalton Coffman from the underlying action.

The dismissal was entered based on the lower court's evaluation of the memoranda and the affidavit submitted by the parties. There is no memorandum decision and the ruling simply states that the court concludes as a matter of law that there is no cause of action against Penelope D. Coffman. (See ruling on Motion to Reconsider Motion to Dismiss, attached.)

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant-respondent Penelope D. Coffman did not at any time engage in the representation of the appellants and under the Utah Professional Corporation Act defendant-respondent cannot be held vicariously liable for the alleged malpractice of another member of the corporation. Therefore, the lower court was correct in dismissing her as a defendant.

### ARGUMENT

THE UTAH PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION ACT CONTAINS NO PROVISION FOR VICARIOUS LIABILITY AND NO MEMBER OF A CORPORATION CAN BE CHARGED WITH LIABILITY FOR THE ACTS OF ANOTHER MEMBER OF THE CORPORATION ABSENT PERSONAL INVOLVEMENT IN THE REPRESENTATION OF A CLIENT.

Penelope D. Coffman and Aldine J. Coffman, Jr. are both members of the defendant law firm Coffman, Coffman and Woods, a professional corporation. Aldine J. Coffman has rendered services to the Appellants. Penelope D. Coffman has rendered no services to Appellants; nor has she been in anyway involved in the services rendered by Aldine J. Coffman.

The laws governing the members of a professional corporation are found in the Utah Professional Corporation Act, Utah Code Ann. section 16-11-1 to 16-11-15 (1978). The Utah General Partnership Act is not applicable to a professional corporation.

Appellants cite section 16-11-3 and 16-11-10 from the Professional Corporation Act allowing professionals the use of the corporation form for business purposes, while not altering the professional relationship between the professional and his client. The language of the Statute, however, specifically states that the act "does not alter any law applicable to the



relationship between a person rendering professional services and a person receiving such services, including liability arising out of such professional services." (emphasis added) There is no mention of a relationship with or liability of, other members of a corporation. The emphasis is on liability of a person rendering professional services to a person that receives such services.

In a case dealing with the issue of vicarious liability among members of a professional corporation, the Nevada Supreme Court stated:

A member of professional legal corporation in Nevada is not individually liable for the tortious acts of other members of that professional legal corporation unless he/she personally participated in those tortious acts. Grayson v. Jones, 710 P.2d 76 (Nev. 1985)

It is a fact of this case that Penelope D. Coffman did not in any sense of the definition personally participate in the representation of the appellants. 18 AM JUR 2d §§37 and 18 AM JUR 2d §§854 affirm the law that while the liability between an attorney and his client remains the same in a professional corporation, vicarious liability is not imposed on a shareholder.

Section 16-11-5 of the Professional Corporation Act reads as follows:

The Utah Business Corporation Act shall be applicable to professional corporations, and they shall enjoy the

powers and privileges and be subject to the duties, restrictions and liabilities of other corporations, except where inconsistent with this act.

The Utah Business Corporations Act, which is applicable to the Utah Professional Corporation Act, provides that shareholders are under no obligation to the corporation or its creditors other than the obligation to pay full consideration for shares issued. Utah Code Ann. §16-10-23 (1978). The Colorado Supreme Court has ruled accordingly in giving a professional corporation the same powers and privileges that a business corporation enjoys. The court states "a professional service corporation enjoys all powers and privileges of other corporations, under Colorado law." Network Affiliates v. Robert E. Schack, P.A., 682 P.2d 1244, 1246 (Colo. App. 1984).

The general law of corporations provides that corporate officers are jointly and severally liable only when two or more join or participate in a wrongful act. Directors are not liable for the wrongful acts of their co-directors if they do not connive with them, nor are the executive officers responsible for the neglect of duty, negligence, or misconduct of each other in their official relations, without proof of joint participation. 18B AL JUR 2d §§1719, 1720.

CONCLUSION

Members of a professional corporation are not vicariously liable for the acts or omissions of other members of the corporation without joint participation or personal involvement in the rendering of service. Therefore, we respectfully submit that the judgment of the court below should be affirmed.